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CONTLNTS

Name and location of the property- former Gaston County
Courthouse, on courthouse square, Dallas, Gaston County,
North Carolina.

Name and address of current owner of the property - Town
of Dallas, Town Clerk Mr. Nick Vlaservich, Dallas, N.C.

Representative photographs of the property -

Map depicting location of the property -

Current deed references of the property -

Historical sketch of the property - This report contains
a brief historical sketch(including information from the
National Register proposal prepared as a district report)
by Historic Properties Commission member Mrs. H., 0.
¥illiams,

Architectural description of the property - The report
contains a brief architectural description prepvared by
Mr. Alan Waufle, Director of the Gaston County NMuseum of
Art & History.

Documentation of why and in what ways the property is of
historical significance to the county. The Historic Proper-
ties Commission believes that the Tormer courthouse ig of
utmost importance to the history of Gaston County. The

ola courthouse is already listed in the National Register
of Historic Places as part of a district. It is the center-
piece of that historic district surrounded by seversal

other historic structures from the 1850's. The museum gives
numerous walking tours of the historic square which depicts
county seat life of the mid- nineteenth century.

9.Reaction of the N.C. Department of Archives and History.

10.

Ordinance designating structure as historic property and
Public Hearing notices, corresoondence with owner.
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CHAIN OF TITL:
FOREME GASTON COUNTY COUNTHOUSH

Jessie Holland deeded 75 acres of land to the County Court
of Gaston County as shown in Deed Book 1, page 19, in the
Gaston County Registry; the vpurchase price being Fifty
dollars (%50.) August 1847.

Gaston County held this proprty until July 3, 1911, when

the County Commissioners deeded the courthouse lot (and

the jail lot) to Gaston Land and Manufacturing Compvany.

This deed is recorded in Deed Book 94 at page 45 in the
Gaston County Register of Deeds office at the purchase

price of §7,000. (for both lots). The purpose cited for
conveyance was becguse the county seat had moved from Dallas
to Gastonia, N.C.

The Gaston Land and Manufacturing Company deeded the court—
house lot and building to the %town of ballas on [ay 13,
1914, for the sum of 45,000, as shown in Dieed Book 1054 B,
246, Gaston County Register of Decds office, Gastonia, ¥.C.







PORIER GASTON COUNTY COURTIHOUS:H 1843

On December 5, 1846 (and officially ratified Uecember 21,
1846) a bill was passed in the Worth Carolina state legislature
which would give North Carolins her seventy fourth county.l
The new county would be called Gaston, named after Judge
¥illiam Gaston, statesman, scholar, and N.C. Supreme Court
Justice.?

Isaac Holland, Andrew Love, Christian Akar (Aker), Ephriam
Friday, Viesley Davenport, and Robertnk. Bently (Beaty) were
appointed commissioners to select 2 site for the county seat
a5 near the center of the county as a suitable location coulad
be obtained., 4 majority of the commissioners had the nower +to
purchase or receive by donztion a tract of land containing not
less than fifty acres, nor more than one hundred acres, upon
which a tovn would be 1laid off znd called Dallas, named for
Georgze Hifflin Dalles, Vice President of the United 2tates,
vhere the courthouse and Jail would be erected.3

Seventy five acres of land were purchased from Jesse Holland
for the sum of fifty dollars in August 1847.4

In the summer of 1847 the first county court was held in
the home of Jesse Holland near the site of Long Creek Baptist
Church. The first courthouse, a log structure, was ready for
use in the fall of 1847. The log building served a few years
and burned.5 Many of the records, including court minutes and
marriage bonds were burned, however some of the records were
saved by the Dallas women who dicked them up in their anrons.

6

Among the records saved were the Wills and Ueeds books,
L& ]

The construction hag already begun on the nermanent court-



house and jail. Avery Miauney, who was called "Big Ave", had the
contract for the construction of both brick buildings. The brick
used in the construction of the courthouse and jail was hand-
made in the rear of the Jail lot by slaves owned by Mr. Mauney.7

Dallas was a booming little village with lots of activity
centered around court life. when court was in session, people
traveled from all over the county in their horse-drawn buggies
to listen to the lawyers and watch the Jury turn in their ver-
dicts. Many kept their horses at the livery stables, stayed in
the hotels, and visited the general st ore and the tavern, and
attended the churches.

Un the eve of the Var between the States, the 1860 census
reovorts a lallas population of sbout 300 nersons. ihen war
broke out, many young men were sworn into the Confederacy on
courthouse grounds across the South. An estimated 1,200 to 1,500

-

men went to war from Gaston County by way of Brevard station
(Stanley) where they ceught the train.a

In Aoril of 1865, although Lee had already surrenderegd,
Union troons camped on the square, These were vart of "Stone-
men's Raid" through western North Carolina and gouthern Virginia,
the Federal Cavalry of Colonel William Palmer's brigade.9 One
soldier, John Berk, Co. 1, 12th Ohio Cavalry, walked into the
Register of Deeds office and wrote his low and orofane opinion

19 In May, two other groups of Union soldiers

of Southerners,
occupied the Dallas square and, according to Jacob Froneberger's
diery, "made something of a permanent headouarters at the court-
hcuse".ll These last soldiers were under the direction of =

colonel namned iVheeler,




After the Civil war, much activity still surrounded the
vellas square. Jonas Poffman, having just returned home from
serving in the Confederate Havy, now ran the Hoffman Hotel.
Jonas although loyal to the Confederacy, didn't believe in

slavery or secession and aligned himself with the Republican

-

Fa

party. Since he was elected twice to the State Legislature
and served as delegate to the 1875 Constitutional Convention,
he was very active politically and brought many people into
Dallas to stay at the "Republican Hotel ",

On December 12, 1374, there was another courthouse fire.
The walls and foundation withstood the fire and the courthouse
was rebuilt in 1875 using the original wazlls and foundation.lé
The stairway Tfor the building was placed outside and was built
of granite by John Campo., iir. Campo, a native of Wisconsin,
whose parents immigrated from tfollend, and a Union soldier,

was detained in Lallas becnuse he was arrested for stealing =2
nalr of shoes from the Lewis store. i, Cemvo wes in jail a-
walting trial when his company left town. He remained in

l..,f . . . \
' The exterior granite steons

Lallas for the rest of his life.
were given a balustrade believed to have been cast by Jacob
Fulenwider in his foundry at ligh Shoals. The courtroom with

elevated benches for spectators occupied the second story,
1<

4.

with offices on the first story,
while life in Dallas centered around the courthouse and

court, the neighboring mill village of Gastonia was growing

in size and importance and Gastonians began to arzue that the

county seat should be moved from iallas to Gastonia. In 1897



samuel M. Vilson, a farmer and Justice of the peace who lived

near Crowder's fMjountain, was elected to the House of Repre- (
sentatives. He introduced a bill that would call for a vote

in the county to decide on removal of the courthouse to Gas-

tonia. A supplement to the bill would allow Gastonia to con-
tribute substantially to the building of the new courthouse

and jail if these were moved by vote of the people. In March

the bill was passed with authorization for an election in

August.

A simple contest between the voters of little Dzllas and
pooulous Gastonia would surely have been decided in favor of
the move, by a vote oi three or four to one, but throughout
the entire county rose a surging insistence on resoect for

half a century of tradition. 01d residents reminded their

younger neighvors of such great names in county history as
Eolland, FHoffman, white, Lewis, Hoyle, Rhyne, and Friday. Sust
these be totally eclipsed by Gray, Craig, Adams, and Love? 1f
Gastonia had mills and size and money and the hope of electri-
city, didﬂ't Dallas have historical distinetion and seniority?
The election resulted in the defeat of Wilson's bill for change
of the county seat.l6

In 1902 the county's anti-liquor forces strongly support-
cd the candidezey of John F. Leeper, a prosperous business man

of Belmont, for the office of state representative, The swift

growth of Gaston's vopulation had brought about action by the
Legislature to make Gaston a separate district that would be
allowed to elect a state senator and two representatives every

two years. 350 another candidate announced for office, %.7. [Love
J ¥



)
of the strong textile family of Gastonis. Love vigorously
sponsored the continued agitation to get the county. seat
moved to his hometown.

Both Leeper and Love were elected to the lower house. At

the meeting of the Legislature in Raleigh that february, Leeper

and Love each introduced a cherished bill. Leeper's proposal
was for county prohibition, Love's for g Special election on
the question of making Gastonia the new county seat. Love's
bill for the county seat election was passed by the Legisla-
ture, and the election was set for April 22, 1902,

That action touched off instant fierce argunent at home.,
Little Lallas expressed sentiment against the change, end
feeling ran high. The northern precincts of the county, in
particular, upheld the storied claims of Dallas to remain the
courthouse town. Voters were reminded that the exvense of g
trensfer of court, jail, and records would be considerable,
In rebutal, B.G. Lradley of Jastonia organized a group of his
fellow townsmen that nledged #5,000. toward construction of
a new courthouse in their town, an. ol e s penansel §)
the Zoard of County Commissioners.

Debate among the commissioners was also strenuous, and
when at last the offer was- accepted by a majority vote, the
chairman of the board and another commissioner resigned in g
fury. As election day drew near, vigorous camvaigning both for
and ageinst the measure excited the residents,

A large number of voters came to the polls, 3,557 in all,
Which was more than had voied for the oresident in Gaston in
the 1900 election. The final count was 1,772 against the move

anc 1,708 in favor- defeaxz vy only sixty Ffour votes,
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The Gastonia supporters were disannointed but not dis—
heartened. They took comfort from the news that a majority of
the more than 800 voters in the Gastonia Townshio had actually
voted for the removal.17

The civic leaders of Gastonia still wanted the county
seat moved to their town.

Dallas felt and spoke to the contrary. The mills had
grown somewhat, and recently there had been organized the
Gaston Guards as Company B of the First North Carolina Infan-—
try, with Attorney Alfred Lee Bulwinkle as its captain. But
inl909, the twice defeated vrovosal was brought once again
before the Legislature, under the svonsorshin of state Senator
J.5. Manning of :iurham County. The measure passed and the elect-
ion was set for August'B, 1909.

At once Gastonia's political leaders and merchants nledged {
the sum of §43,000. for a new courthouse and jail if the county
seat were moved. Dzllas supporters managed to raise oledzes of
$21,000. to improve county property if the courthouse stayed in
Dallas. On August 5, the largest number of voters ever nolled
in Gaston County turned out- 5,281 voters.

It was a quiet orderly election in Dallas, Gastonia, and
everywhere else. Vhen the volls were closed and the count com-
pleted, Gastonia was named the new county seat by s vote of
2,965 to 2,326, a majority of 629 votes- small but decisive.
The transfer of the courts, jail, offices, and records was sct
for 191119

| So Dallas was no longer the county seat. The walls of

the 0ld courthouse would no longer hear the oratory of the

distinguished attorneys; no more would the peonle gather under



|

the oaks on the courthouse square on court week,.

As the courthouse and jail were no longer needed by the
county, they were offered for sale. On July 3, 1911, the
County Commissioners deeded the courthouse and jail to the
Gaston Land and Manufacturing Co. for the sum of %7,000.19

The town of Dallas bought the courthouse property from
Gaston Land and Manufacturing Co. for the sum of $5,000. on
May 13,1914.20 Until this time the building was empty and
neglected and the grounds were littered with trash and papers.
The townspeovle, especially the women, complained because this
place, which was once & source of oride, vwas now an eyesore.

After the town acquired the courthouse, a downstairs
room on the south side of the building was used as the local
Jail for a short time.21

The o0ld courtroom housed s theatre in 1914-1915. I£ adaot-
ed well to the theatre becsuse the courtroom had elevated Len-
ches.22 The Dallas Farm Life 3chool, a high school, occunied
the courtroom for several years, prosabi;y 1916 to 1320, Jhe
clevited benches were removed and partitions were added to
malke classrooms.23

A downstairs room at the back of the building was useéd to
garage the town's model T fire truck and later more modern
trucks which replaced the model T. A siren was mounted outside
the door and any citizen who spotted a fire rushed to the old
courthouse and blew the siren to alert the men of the community
to come fight the fire. Because the first nerson to arrive got
to drive the fire truck, the young men raced cach other to the
fire station. This room served as the town's fire station un-

S e . . i . X
til Hay 1975 when a new station was bullt.g‘ This room then



was paneled and the cement floor was cerpeted, converting it
into & spacious meeting room for the Dallas Aldermen to hold
their meetings.

In January 1921, the Dallas Voman's Club which had been
organized in September 1920, was given permission by the town
authorities to use the courthouse for a meeting place, Two
downstairs rooms on the south side of the building were made
into one large room where club meetings were held. A large
fireplgke was used to heat the room. Across the wide hallway
a kitchen was installed. A dumb waiter was built in one corner

5

of the kitchen so that food and dishes could be sent uo

3

tairs
when large grouns of people were to be served.

For twenty two years this svace was used by the communi ty
as well as the ioman's Club. The club prepared and served meals

to provide funds for maintaining the building and its grounds.,

3

Various other groups hadé meetings here and used the fecility
for money making orojects.

The vwomen's Club had great pride in the building and its
grounds. lany of the trees on the lawn today were vlanted by
club members, \

By 1943 Dallas had grown and the town fathers decided
that the building was needed for municipal officer.—:.z5

The town's first library was begun in the o0ld courthouse
sometime in the early 1930's with a small collection of books
donated by local citizens. Later the town was serviced by the
Gaston County Bookmobile. The library remained here until the
local branch of the Gaston County library was completed in
1959.

The Dallas municipal offices and the vpolice devnartment



have remained in the first floor rooms of the building since
1943.

The o0ld courtroom continued to be used Tor community
ectivities over the years. All political elections are still
held here. The polling place was uvostairs for years but, be-
cause of the steep outside granite stairs, it was moved down-
stairs. Dallas Township is now divided into two precincts, but
the voters of precinct # 38 still vote here.

The old courtroom was used for town meetings, square dan-
ces, club meetings, headquarters for summer recreation programs,
school Helloween carnivals, snd political rallies.

lunicipal court was held here until the court was abolish-
ed by the state legislature.

During the years of torld War II, Dallas was without a
doctor. In 1948 the town authorities offered a2 room downsitairs

4

doctor's office . A doctor did come

pev]

in the o0ld courthouse for
but remained in town only a few monthe and left to establish a
practice in a neighboring town.

For many years a reunion for Confederate veterans was held
on the o0ld courthouse lawn in the summertime. Dallas citizens
provided the picnic lunch. The years of the reunions are uncer-
tain, but the last reunion was probably held in 1909.26

At some time after the town acquired the old courthouse,.
stucco was applied to the exterior walls because of a crack that

1
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had occurred in the brick wall. This was beliaved
22 because the old walls and foundation were used after the fire
4 o : 27

when the courthouse was rebuilt.

In 1975 the lballas 3oard of Aldermen agreed to let the new-—

ly organigzed Gaston County huseum of Art and History use the old
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courtroom to establish the musewn. On July 4, 1976, the museum
opened in the courtroom and remained there until the first
phase of the 0ld Hoffman Hotel renovation was comnleted in
lay 1984. Museum headquarters were then moved to the hotel
building. The museum continues to use the courtroom for special
exhibits.

The guaint old courthouse still stands in the center of
the town of Dallas, proud on its beautifully landscaped grounds,
a reminder of the past when Dallas was sa busy county seat, and
cherished by all the citizens of Gaston County, as well as

those of liallsas.
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Gaston County Courthouse (former, c. 1848 - 1911)
131 N. Gaston St. Dallas, North Carolina
Architectural description by Alan D. Waufle

The building known by Gaston County residents as the
"Dallas Courthouse" formerly served as the Gaston County
Courthouse until the county seat was moved to Gastonia in 1911,
This small but impressive building is located on its own court
square park in the center of the Town of Dallas, Although- the
courthéuse has undergone considerable change in occuﬁants and
some modernizing alterations, it remains a strong example of
Greek Revival architecture.

The construction date given to the courthopse is c. 1848,
although much of the extant fabric dates from the late nine-
teenth century after a fire gutted the interior in December 1874,
The building is brick and rests on three courses of granite block.
Circa 1910 the brick was covered with stucco which is now
painted white, Documentary photographs show the brick to be
laid 1:5 common bond. The structure is rectangular in Qhape
and has a shallow, gable roof with pedimented ends. The
classic design of the building has simple, plain detail work.
Two, interior, end chimneys are found centrally located on
the side (north and south) walls.

Approach to the courthouse is made on the east side by
way of a semi-circular drive. The main (east) facade is three

bays wide with the second floor treated as the main floor.



This treatment is achieved by the wide, double stairway which

is the dominant feature of the facade, and, in fact, of the

>
entire structure, Each step is a single slab of granite. The
second story laﬁding is composed of several slabs cut the same
size as single steps. The stairway has a cast iron balustrade
with simple handrail, open urn-like balusters and a solid,

.--.

iron newel which reflects the design of the balqsters. In__
recent years an additional hand rail of wrought iron has begn
attached to the building itself on both north and south flights
of stairs.

The three bays of the second story on the main facade
consist of two nine-over-six, sash windows; flanking a central,
round-arched doorway. Windows throughout the building have
stone sills, simple molded architraves, and remnants of
shutter hardware. The doorway contains a fanlight and a pair
of six paneled doors which are replacements. The round-arched
doorway is repeated below on the first floor. This central
doorway is the only opening on the first floor of the main
facade, and passes under the stairs and landing above. The
facade is furthér accented by a wide, plain frieze and pedi-
ment. The pediment is covered with wood sheathing and con-
tains a central, louvered window for ventilationm.

The low roof of the courthouse is a standing-seam, metal

type which is accentuated with a small, square tower located

at the front, over the main facade., The tower is covered




with clapboards and all four sides have louvered ventilators.
The tower's pyramidal roof is also covered with standing-seam
metal. A plain, cylindrical, metal finial which surmounted
the tower for many years has been removed in recent months,
The west facade, like the east, has the pedimented,
gable end with ventilator. The first story contains only

a central doorway with replacement, double doors which
have six panels., The second floor contains two bays; -
sash windows of twelve-over-efight lights,

The south facade's second story has three windows
with twelve-over-eight lights and stone sills as seen at
the rear of the building. The ground floor shows two eight-
over-eight windows flanked by two smaller windows which are
covered with riveted, metal shutters, closed at all times,
Investigation on the interior reveals the smaller windows
to be four-over-four, sash windows,

\

The north facade shows evidence of the changes this
building has undergone with various occupants over the years,
On the first story, two windows are found that match those
those of the south side; having eight—over-eigét lights,

Seen at the west end of the ground floor is a small projection
which was added to frame a garage-type door when the Dallas

Fire Department was housed in that portion of the building.

The garage door has been removed and the opening filled in



with stuccoed block and a door with six panels. This pro-
jection was added with some sensitivity, however, as it
reflects the east and west facades with a similarly designed
pediment., The roof of this small, ell-like addition is
standing-seam metal like the roof of the courthouse itself,
The second story of the north facade matches that on the
south side with three, twelve-over-eight, sash windows.

The second story of the courthouse once contained the
courtroom and now is the héme of the county museum. This
space continues to be one, large room which is now subdivided
with partitions, but no permanent walls, The interior of
the masonry walls is covered with rough-textured plaster
and has a simple crown molding. A high chair rail and
wainscoting of contemporary paneling are fairly recent additions
to the interior. The floor has been covered with vinyl tile,
All windows on the second floor have deep sills and molded
surrounds. The tower and attic may be reached through an
opening in the ceiling near the front of the building. The
tower bell can be 'seen through the opening.

Documentary photographs show the ground floor had earlier
included a passageway that extended through the entire length
of the building. This passageway has now been totally enclosed
and serves as the entrance to the Town of Dallas offices and
as portions of offices as well. Two long rooms on either

side of the original passageway have been subdivided into



-

various offices for employees of the Town of Dallas.

Upon entering the first floor, to the left is a small
room which had been used as a vault and now contains a
lavatory and water closet. The small window in this room is
enclosed with plywood on the inside and is covered on the
outside with the metal shutters previously described. A second
vault is found at the opposite end of the building and also
contains a half bathroom. Here, though, one can see the
framed sash window of the vault which is covered with the
exterior, metal shutters.

The windows of the first floor, like those of the second,
are set in deep sills and have molded surrounds. Walls not
covered with contemporary paneling are plaster over masonry.
There is no evidence of fireplaces or stove flues. The
chimneys seen at the roof line are used only for exhaust of
the small heaters of the second floor. All floors on the
ground level have been covered with either carpeting or tile,

The grounds of the Dallas Courthouse are well maintained
and in recent months have been improved with new and formal
plantings. The only outbuildings to be found on the square
are gazebos., One on the north side of the square is quite
plain and covers the site of the now closed public well. This
gazebo is made of stuccoed piers supporting a turreted roof
with wood shingles. The second gazebo is in the southwest

quadrant of the square and has been completed during the summer



of 1983. 1Its octagonal design is reminiscent of a Victorian
bandstand. The raised floor is reached by a short flight of
stairs with a balustrade composed of turned balusters and a
simple handrail. A matching balustrade encircles the raised
floor area of the gazebo. The area beneath the floor is
enclosed for storage. Near this gazebo is plaéed a granite
watering trough'which had originally stood on the morth side

of the square,



